THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case Number: 2013-CP-10-3669
Appellate Case No.: 2014-001977

Eugene Magwood Applicant/Appellant,

v.

J. Al Cannon, Jr. in his official capacity as
Sheriff of Charleston County, Investigator
Anderson, Investigator Antonio, Charles
Ghent, and South Carolina Law
Enforcement Division Respondents,

FINAL BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

Jerry Leo Finney, Bar #64297
The Finney Law Firm, Inc.
2117 Park Street
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
(803) 254-7408

Attorney for Appellant

April 6, 2015

RECEIVED

APR 07 2015

SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. **THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING THE DEFENDANTS SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON ALL CAUSES OF ACTION AS THERE EXISTED A GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT.**
2. **THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING THE DEFENDANTS SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON ALL CAUSES OF ACTION AS THE DEFENDANTS ARE NOT ENTITLED TO IMMUNITY FROM SUIT DUE TO THEIR ACTIONS IN THIS MATTER.**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal of an appeal of an Order granting the Defendants summary judgment on all causes of action from The Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Jr. dated and filed on August 14, 2014. Appellant received a copy of this Order on August 18, 2014 and timely filed a Notice of Appeal on September 8, 2014.

FACTS

Prior to May 7, 2009, Appellant was employed by Respondent Cannon as a highly successful member of the Charleston County Sheriff's Office having attained the rank of detective and having received various awards and decorations for his service. (Deposition of Eugene Magwood pg. 92) (R. p. 601, lines 21-24). On January 7, 2007, Appellant, in the scope of his employment as a detective, was assigned a sexual assault case with a Ms. Catherine Boney as the alleged victim. (Deposition of Eugene Magwood pg. 34) (R. p. 543). In furtherance of that investigation, and at the direction of his supervisors, Appellant went to the residence of Ms. Boney, to interview her further as to the reported crime, and to show her a photographic lineup of potential suspects. (Deposition of Eugene Magwood pg. 34, 49) (R. p. 543, p. 558). After being shown the photographic lineup, Ms. Boney identified the alleged suspect and initialed next

to the picture. (Deposition of Eugene Magwood pg. 36) (R. p. 545). However, due to Ms. Boney's becoming hysterical and extremely distraught, following her initialing of the photo lineup, Appellant placed the date and time next to her initials. (Deposition of Eugene Magwood pg. 34, 36) (R. p. 543, p. 545). On October 7, 2008, correspondence was sent to SLED by the Assistant Sheriff at the Charleston County Sheriff's Department requesting that SLED conduct an investigation into complaints of possible misconduct of Appellant regarding Ms. Boney's case. (October 7, 2008 Letter to SLED) (R. p. 902). Appellant was placed on administrative leave as of October 7, 2008 and SLED's investigation was begun with Respondent Anderson of Internal Affairs at the Charleston County Sheriff's Office also being notified of the situation and SLED's involvement. (Deposition of Charles Ghent pg. 16, 17) (R. p. 445, p. 446). Prior to the conclusion of the criminal investigation by Agent Ghent of SLED, an internal affairs investigation was begun on April 1, 2009 by Respondents Anderson and Antonio of the Charleston County Sheriff's Department. (Internal Affairs Memorandum, Deposition of Michael Anderson pg. 44) (R. pp. 812-824, p. 757). Although during both of the investigations performed by the Respondents it was discovered that allegations of Appellant signing Ms. Boney's initials were not supported by evidence, Appellant was arrested, charged with misconduct in office, and accused of being a liar and a criminal. (Arrest Warrants) (R. p. 911). Even after several instances of Catherine Boney stating that she may have signed the photo lineup, thus corroborating Appellant's consistent position in this matter, the Respondents continued and facilitated the prosecution of the Appellant without cause. (Deposition of Michael Anderson, pg. 66, Notes of Michael Anderson, Deposition of Roger Antonio pg. 24, Deposition of Charles Ghent pgs. 39, 40, 41) (R. p. 778, p. 694, p. 468-470). The Respondents also took great steps to ruin the Appellant's reputation in his community by making false and defamatory statements

about the Appellant's handling of Ms. Boney's case and his character, all of which were published in local newspapers and online through local news outlets. (Deposition of Eugene Magwood, pg. 54) (R. p. 563). The Appellant was ultimately brought to a jury trial on the charge of misconduct in office on June 29, 2011 through June 30, 2011 where he was found NOT GUILTY of all charges by a jury of his peers. (Deposition of Eugene Magwood pg. 98) (R. p. 607). As a result of the actions of the actions of Respondents, Appellant has not only suffered actual damages in the form of lost earnings and earning potential and attorney's fees, but he has also endured degradation of his good name, degradation of the his reputation in his trade and occupation, degradation of his personal reputation in the community; and embarrassment, fright, humiliation, indignity, and mental pain and suffering. (Deposition of Eugene Magwood pgs. 72, 74, 75, 114, 117, 118) (R. p. 581, p. 583, p. 584, p. 623, p. 626, p. 627).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

When reviewing the grant of a summary judgment motion, the appellate court applies the same standard which governs the trial court: summary judgment is proper when there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Rule 56(c), South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, Miller v. Blumenthal Mills, Inc. (S.C.App. 2005) 365 S.C. 204, 616 S.E.2d 722. "In determining whether any triable issues of fact exist, all inferences from the facts in the record must be viewed in the light most favorable to the party opposing the summary judgment motion." Tom Jenkins Realty, Inc. v. Hilton, 278 S.C. 624, 300 S.E.2d 594, 595 (1983). Under Rule 56(c) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, the party seeking summary judgment has the initial burden of demonstrating the absence of a genuine issue of material fact. Id. at 545. Summary judgment is not appropriate

where further inquiry into the facts of the case is desirable to clarify the application of the law. Brockbank v. Best Capital Corp., 341 S.C. 372, 534 S.E.2d 688 (2000). Summary judgment should not be granted even when there is no dispute as to evidentiary facts if there is disagreement concerning the conclusion to be drawn from those facts. Moriarty v. Garden Sanctuary Church of God, 341 S.C. 320, 534 S.E.2d 672 (2000). If triable issues exist, those issues must go to the jury. Young v. South Carolina Dep't of Corrections, 333 S.C. 714, 511 S.E.2d 413 (Ct.App.1999).

ARGUMENTS

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING THE DEFENDANTS SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON ALL CAUSES OF ACTION AS THERE EXISTED A GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT

The most important portion of Appellant's argument in the case at hand, as is true for most suits of this nature at the summary judgment stage, is the interpretation of the facts and evidence present in a light most favorable to Appellant. Unfortunately, this portion of Appellant's argument was summarily ignored by the trial court in granting Respondents summary judgment on all causes of actions without examining the facts as presented by the Appellant. A review of the Order Granting Summary Judgment to Respondents reveals that the facts used by the Court in making a decision are the facts as presented by the Respondents and not the facts presented by Appellant. (Order Granting Summary Judgment) (R. pp. 3-16). Although the Appellant presented evidence through a written brief with attachments of deposition transcripts and other supporting documents as well as presented oral arguments at the July 30, 2014 summary judgment hearing, all of which contradicted Respondents' recitation of the facts in the case, none of this appears to have been taken into consideration in the court's decision to grant summary judgment to Respondents on all causes of action. As the South Carolina Supreme Court has

held that “summary judgment ‘should be cautiously invoked so that no person will be improperly deprived of a trial of the disputed factual issues,’” it is axiomatic that the trial court should take great caution in examining the facts as presented in a light most favorable to the non-moving party so that the non-moving party is given every opportunity to demonstrate the necessity of a jury hearing the disputed factual testimony. Baughman v. Am. Tel. & Tel. Co., 306 S.C. 101, 112, 410 S.E.2d 537, 543 (1991) *citing* Watson v. Southern Ry. Co., 420 F.Supp. 483, 486 (D.S.C.1975); *see also* Holloman v. McAllister, 289 S.C. 183, 186, 345 S.E.2d 728, 729 (1986) (“an extreme remedy to be cautiously invoked”). This holding has great importance in regards to the Appellant as his lawsuit rested on the interpretation of the facts presented, specifically Respondents’ behavior in investigating and prosecuting the charges against Appellant. In examining the evidence in a light most favorable to Appellant, several disputed factual issues arise that go to the heart of the matter; whether the Respondents had probable cause to arrest and prosecute Appellant for forging Ms. Boney’s initials on a photo lineup and then lying about it to his superiors and to the assistant solicitor. A review of the Appellant’s position in opposition to Respondents’ request for summary judgment demonstrates that Ms. Boney made it very clear to the Respondents as well as to multiple other people connected with the prosecution of Appellant that she may have signed the photo lineup given to her by Appellant but she was so upset and hysterical she could not remember. (Criminal Trial Transcript pg. 5, Ins. 21-25, Deposition of Michael Anderson pg. 66, Ins. 9-23, Deposition of Charles Ghent pg. 11, Ins. 12-14) (R. p. 371, lines 21-25, p. 778, lines 9-23, p. 440, lines 12-14). She even goes so far as to tell Respondent Anderson that she did sign something with Magwood and that he told her to sign her initials. (Notes of Michael Anderson) (R. pp. 805-811). This detail, while it may appear small, creates a gigantic factual dispute in light of the fact that the issue that brought about the investigation and

prosecution of Appellant was the allegation of his forging of Ms. Boney's initials. (Deposition of Michael Anderson, pg. 33, lns. 21-25, pg. 34, lns. 1-3, Deposition of Charles Ghent pg. 19, lns. 18-23) (R. p. 746, lines 21-25, p. 746 lines 1-3, p. 448 lines 18-23). However, even when armed with the knowledge that Ms. Boney thought she signed the photo lineup, and thus was not accusing Appellant of any wrongdoing, the Respondents continued with the arrest and prosecution of Appellant and the submission of a misleading report indicating Appellant had violated policy by lying to a public official and forging Ms. Boney's signature. It is important to note that these actions by the Respondents were performed while maintaining to the court that Ms. Boney had **denied** signing the photo lineup while in truth, she was never sure whether she signed the photo lineup or not. (Deposition of Michael Anderson, pg. 66, Notes of Michael Anderson, Deposition of Roger Antonio pg. 24, Deposition of Charles Ghent pgs. 39, 40, 41) (R. p. 778, pp. 805-811, p. 694, pp. 468-470). Respondent Ghent even admitted in his deposition that he was not surprised by Ms. Boney's testimony at Appellant's criminal trial where she reiterates on several occasions that she does not remember signing the photo lineup because she was so emotional, that she could have signed it because she does remember signing something. (Criminal Trial Transcript pg. 10, lns. 9-17, Deposition of Charles Ghent pg. 74, lns. 22-24) (R. p. 376, lines 9-17, R. p. 503, lines 22-24). In fact throughout Ms. Boney's testimony at Appellant's criminal trial, where she was testifying as a witness for the State, she repeats again and again that she does believe she signed the photo lineup. (Criminal Trial Transcript pgs. 2-20) (R. pp. 368-386). Respondents Anderson and Antonio even submitted their findings as to their internal investigation stating that Appellant placed Ms. Boney's initials on the lineup as well as that Appellant lied to Assistant Solicitor Voight and Internal Affairs regarding the initials although they undisputedly were aware of multiple instances where Ms. Boney admitted she was

too hysterical to remember whether she signed or not but felt like she had signed something, thus confirming Appellant's position that he had not forged her initials. (Internal Investigation Report, Deposition of Michael Anderson, pg. 66, Notes of Michael Anderson, Deposition of Roger Antonio pg. 24, Deposition of Charles Ghent pgs. 39, 40, 41)(R. pp. 833-842, p. 778, pp. 805-811, p. 694, pp. 468-470). While the parsing of Ms. Boney's position becomes tedious at times, the entire investigation and prosecution of Appellant relies on her testimony as it is undisputed that the only two people who truly knew whether Ms. Boney signed the photographic lineup was Appellant and Ms. Boney. (Deposition of Charles Ghent pg. 33, Ins. 24-25, pg. 34, Ins. 1-3)(R. p. 462, lines. 24-25, p. 463, lines. 1-3). This complex factual dispute as to what the Respondents knew at each stage of the investigation and prosecution and whether they willfully mislead the Judge signing the arrest warrant and presiding over the preliminary hearing presents a genuine issue of material fact that cannot be ignored and must be submitted to a jury for determination. Hanna v. Palmetto Homes, Inc., 300 S.C. 535, 537, 389 S.E.2d 164, 165 (Ct. App. 1990) (stating "in a law case, the credibility and weight to be accorded evidence is solely for the fact finder to determine.) In taking the facts in a light most favorable to the Appellant, Mr. Eugene Magwood was fired from his job, arrested and prosecuted for a crime he did not commit and for which there was no reliable evidence demonstrating differently. Due to the actions of the Respondents, Mr. Magwood lost not only two years of his life while these charges were pending, but also endured emotional distress, lost wages, loss of employment opportunities, degradation of his name and reputation, stress, and embarrassment. (Deposition of Eugene Magwood pgs. 72, 74, 75, 114, 117, 118) (R. p. 581, p. 583, p. 584, p. 623, p. 626, p. 627). As Appellant has proven the elements of all causes of action, the trial court's grant of summary

judgment to Respondents on all causes of action was an abuse of discretion and should be reversed with the case being remanded for a trial.

Malicious Prosecution and Abuse of Process

It is clear that the Appellant has articulated a case for malicious prosecution and abuse of process based on the facts and trial testimony in this matter. “[T]o maintain an action for malicious prosecution, a plaintiff must establish: (1) the institution or continuation of original judicial proceedings; (2) by or at the instance of the defendant; (3) termination of such proceedings in plaintiff’s favor; (4) malice in instituting such proceedings; (5) lack of probable cause; and (6) resulting injury or damage.” Parrott v. Plowden Motor Co., 246 S.C. 318, 321, 143 S.E.2d 607, 608 (1965). Malice is defined as “the deliberate intentional doing of an act without just cause or excuse.” Eaves v. Broad River Elec. Co-op., Inc., 277 S.C. at 479, 289 S.E.2d at 416. Malice may also be inferred from a want of probable cause to institute the prosecution. Margolis v. Teletech, 239 S.C. 232, 122 S.E.2d 417, 420 (1961). Huggins v. Winn-Dixie Greenville, Inc., 249 S.C. 206, 209, 153 S.E.2d 693, 694 (1967) details the essential elements of abuse of process as, “first, an ulterior purpose, and second, a willful act in the use of the process not proper in the regular conduct of the proceeding.”

It is undisputed that Respondent SLED and Respondent Ghent, with assistance of Respondents Cannon, Anderson and Antonio, participated in the institution and continuation of the proceedings against Appellant in their arrest and detainment of the Appellant for a charge he was later acquitted of by a jury of his peers. It is also undisputed that due to the internal investigation performed by Respondent Anderson and Respondent Antonio on behalf of Respondent Cannon, as well as their failure to notify Respondent Ghent and Respondent SLED of Ms. Boney’s continued assurance that she had signed the photo lineup, Appellant’s arrest and

prosecution continued. Finally it is undisputed that the Appellant was fully acquitted of the charge and the arrest expunged off of his record. (Deposition of Eugene Magwood pg. 98) (R. p. 607). Based on these undisputed facts, this element of the proceeding being adjudicated in Appellant's favor is satisfied. Finally, it is apparent by the evidence presented in this matter that the Appellant has endured emotional and monetary damages due to his unlawful arrest and prosecution. (Deposition of Eugene Magwood pg. 74, lns. 16-25, pg. 75, lns. 17-25, pg. 78, lns. 3-15, pg. 114, lns. 16-22, pg. 117, lns. 14-22, pg. 118, lns. 1-16) (R. p. 583, lines 16-25, p. 584, lines 17-25, p. 587, lines 3-15, p. 623, lines 16-22, p. 626, lines 14-22, p. 627, lines 1-16). Mr. Magwood was fired from his employment, arrested, and due to the ongoing prosecution, continuously blocked from enjoying even the simplest pleasures as well as causing him to be denied job opportunities, employment and wages to assist in providing for his family. (Id.) Even if the Respondents were to dispute Appellant's damages, any arguments about the validity of damages would constitute a genuine issue of material fact and should be presented to the jury. As such, Appellant would argue that, even if the Court finds a dispute regarding the elements of malicious prosecution, when taken in a light most favorable to the Appellant, there exists a material issue of genuine fact and the issue must be submitted to a jury. As such, the trial court erroneously granted summary judgment to Respondents and that decision should be reversed and the case remanded for a trial.

Regarding the issues of malice and lack of probable cause in the institution of the proceedings, review of the facts and circumstances of the charges in question in a light most favorable to the Appellant demonstrate that there existed no probable cause whatsoever for the arrest or prosecution of Appellant. South Carolina supports the contention that the malice requirement can be satisfied through want of probable cause, allowing for both remaining

elements of malicious prosecution to be satisfied through the Respondents' failure to have probable cause for the arrest prosecution. Margolis v. Teletech, 239 S.C. 232, 122 S.E.2d 417, 420 (1961). Additionally, as discussed above, although the Respondents were aware that Ms. Boney states that she signed the photo lineup, they continued on with the arrest and prosecution of Appellant for Misconduct in Office. (Deposition of Michael Anderson, pg. 66, Notes of Michael Anderson, Deposition of Roger Antonio pg. 24, Deposition of Charles Ghent pgs. 39, 40, 41) (R. p. 778, pp. 805-811, p. 694, pp. 468-470). Specifically looking at the arrest warrant sworn out by Respondent Ghent, he states under oath that the Appellant knowingly and willingly provided false information in his investigative report and to the Solicitor's Office in the form of a photo lineup purported to have been signed by a witness (Boney), even after he has been aware of that Ms. Boney does not deny signing the lineup. (Arrest Warrant of Eugene Magwood) (R. p. 911). This misstatement of the facts and evidence in the basis for the arrest warrant demonstrates that the Magistrate did not have the proper information prior to making the determination of probable cause in this matter. This also rings true in discussing the preliminary hearing in this matter where Respondent Ghent admits he simply read the arrest warrant/affidavit. (Deposition of Charles Ghent pg. 46, lns. 20-25, pg. 47, ln. 1) (R. p. 475, lines 20-25, p. 476, line 1). Again, the magistrate hearing the evidence at the preliminary hearing was not afforded the opportunity to hear the true evidence and facts of this case which is the Ms. Boney did not deny signing the photo lineup. This failure of the Respondents to provide truthful evidence calls into question every decision that has been made as to the existence of probable cause for the arrest and prosecution of Appellant and presents a genuine issue of material fact that cannot be ignored and must be presented to a jury. Appellant would thus respectfully

request that this Court reverse the trial court's grant of summary judgment to Respondents and remand this case for a trial.

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