THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

FILED
MAR 30 2015

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

MAR 30 2015

SC Court of Appeals

R. Markley Dennis Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No.: 2013-CP-10-3669
Appellate Case No.: 2014-001977

Eugene Magwood, Appellant

v.

J. Al Cannon, Jr. in his official capacity as
Sheriff of Charleston County, Inspector
Anderson, Inspector Antonio, Charles Ghent,
and South Carolina Law Enforcement Division, Respondents

RESPONDENTS' FINAL BRIEF

ROBIN L. JACKSON
Senn, Legal, LLC
P.O. Box 12279
Charleston, SC 29422
843-556-4045
Attorney for Respondents

Other Counsel of Record:
Jerry Leo Finney
The Finney Law Firm, Inc.

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT AFTER DETERMINING THERE IS NO GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT.

Appellant has alleged malicious prosecution, abuse of process, false arrest, civil conspiracy, and defamation, but has provided no evidence to support any of the causes of action. To the contrary, the evidence shows that the three named officers from the two named agencies were assigned to perform investigations, and that they did so. Once the investigations were complete, they were turned over to others not named in this suit who made determinations about prosecution and termination. Based on the evidence in this case, summary judgment was proper on all causes of action and should be affirmed.

A. THERE IS NO EVIDENCE OF MALICIOUS PROSECUTION BY ANY RESPONDENT.

In order to recover in an action for malicious prosecution, a plaintiff must show (1) the institution or continuation of original judicial proceedings, either civil or criminal; (2) by, or at the instance of, the defendant; (3) termination of such proceeding in the plaintiff's favor; (4) malice in instituting such proceedings; (5) lack of probable cause; and (6) resulting injury or damage. *Ruff v. Eckerd's Drugs, Inc.*, 265 S.C. 563, 566, 220 S.E.2d 649, 651 (1975). An action for malicious prosecution fails if the plaintiff cannot prove each of the required elements by a preponderance of the evidence, including malice and lack of probable cause. *Law v. S.C. Dep't of Corr.*, 368 S.C. 424, 435, 629 S.E.2d 642, 648 (2006).

In this matter, Appellant cannot prove at least four of the elements. Appellant alleged malicious prosecution against all Respondents. In actuality, there are two separate and

distinct groups in this matter: (1) SLED and its agent, Ghent; and (2) the Charleston County Sheriff and his deputies Anderson and Antonio. They should be considered separately.

1. SLED and Agent Ghent

SLED did not know anything about this matter until October 8, 2008, when Assistant Sheriff Andrene Coury-Smith sent Chief Lloyd a letter (through local Captain Roger Heaton) making an official request for an investigation. (R. 885). Agent Charles Ghent was assigned the matter for investigation in October 2008. Until that point, Charles Ghent had never met and knew nothing about Appellant. (R. 493, lines 13-18).

Charles Ghent reviewed documents, interviewed witnesses, and gathered evidence as part of his investigation. When he was finished, he compiled all of the information into a report with a number of documentary attachments and he provided that report to his supervisor who then provided it to the Ninth Circuit Solicitor. (R. 843-846). The purpose of a SLED investigation is to have an outside agency collect evidence and interview witnesses. SLED agents do not make recommendations, decisions, or conclusions about wrongdoings. Such is left to the prosecuting agency. Once the report was turned over to the Solicitor's Office, SLED had no further involvement other than to obtain the warrant at their request. (R. 493, lines 2-6).

Because of the very nature of their investigation, SLED does not institute or continue judicial proceedings. (R. 492, lines 16-20). There is no evidence that, in this case, Agent Ghent or any member of SLED insisted that proceedings be instituted or continued. There is no evidence that Agent Ghent or any member of SLED had any malice toward Appellant.

(R. 493, lines 16-18). Finally, though the SLED report and investigation does not draw the conclusion that there was probable cause, although there clearly was, and Ghent believed there was when he applied for the warrant. (R. 493, line 19 -p. 494, line 2).

Probable cause is a defense to an action for malicious prosecution and has been defined as “the existence of such facts or circumstances as would excite the belief of a reasonable mind, acting on facts within the knowledge of the prosecutor, that the person charged was guilty of the crime for which he was prosecuted.” *Eckerds Drugs*, 265 S.C. at 568, 220 S.E.2d at 652. The plaintiff has the burden of demonstrating lack of probable cause. *Parrott v. Plowden Motor Co.*, 246 S.C. 318, 322, 143 S.E.2d 607, 609 (1965). Therefore, for the determination of probable cause, the facts must be considered from the point of view of the prosecuting party; the question is not what the actual facts were, but what the prosecuting party honestly believed them to be. *Law*, 368 S.C. at 436, 629 S.E.2d at 649. “South Carolina has long embraced the rule that a true bill of indictment is prima facie evidence of probable cause in an action for malicious prosecution.” *Id.*; see also *Pallares v. Seinar*, 407 S.C. 359, 368, 756 S.E.2d 128, 132 (2014) (upholding circuit court’s granting of summary judgment on malicious prosecution because the record demonstrated there was probable cause). While a true bill of indictment is prima facie evidence of probable cause, a not guilty verdict is not evidence of a lack of probable cause. *Crowell v. Herring*, 301 S.C. 424, 392 S.E.2d 464 (Ct. App. 1990). “Although the question of whether probable cause exists is ordinarily a jury question, it may be decided as a matter of law when the evidence yields but one conclusion.” *McBride v. Sch. Dist. Of Greenville Cnty.*, 389 S.C. 546, 566–67, 698 S.E.2d 845, 856 (Ct. App. 2010) (quoting *Law*, 368 S.C. at 436, 629

S.E.2d at 649); *see also Pallares*, 407 S.C. at 368, 756 S.E.2d at 132.

Here, not only is there an affidavit that contains sufficient underlying facts and information to allow a magistrate to make an independent determination of probable cause, Appellant was actually indicted by the Charleston County Grand Jury which is prima facie evidence of probable cause in a malicious prosecution claim. *Law*, 368 S.C. at 436, 629 S.E.2d at 649. Because there is clear evidence of probable cause, there can be no malicious prosecution and the grant of summary judgment should be affirmed as to SLED and Agent Ghent.

2. **Charleston County Sheriff J. Al Cannon, Inspector Anderson, and Inspector Antonio**

Appellant also cannot show that Sheriff Cannon, Inspector Anderson, or Inspector Antonio had any involvement with his prosecution other than Inspector Anderson's being subpoenaed to testify at the trial. The investigation performed by Anderson and Antonio was separate and distinct from that performed by SLED. It was an internal investigation prepared solely to determine if Appellant had violated any of the policies and procedures of the Charleston County Sheriff's Office. (R. 833-842). Sheriff Cannon had no personal involvement in the investigation. The internal affairs investigation was even performed pursuant to *Garrity v. New Jersey*, 385 U.S. 493 (1967), such that Appellant's statements to the internal affairs Inspectors could not be and were not held against him in his prosecution. Inspector Anderson only testified at trial because he was served with a subpoena and was required to do so. No member of the Sheriff's Office had any involvement in the decision-making process regarding whether Appellant would be prosecuted. (R. 705, line 16-p. 706,

line 2; R. 791, lines 20-24). The Attorney General's Office made the decision to prosecute Appellant. There is no evidence that any member of the Sheriff's Office ever spoke with the Attorney General's Office to insist that judicial proceedings be instituted or continued. (R. 705 line 25-p. 706 line 2; R. 791, lines 20-24). The investigation performed by the Sheriff's Office resulted in Appellant's termination, which he has not made a part of his complaint.

Appellant cannot prove four of the necessary elements of his malicious prosecution claim (1, 2, 4, and 5), and therefore the grant of summary judgment should be affirmed as to Sheriff Cannon, Anderson, and Antonio on the Malicious Prosecution cause of action.

B. THERE WAS NO ABUSE OF PROCESS OR FALSE ARREST BY GHENT, ANDERSON, OR ANTONIO.

1. Appellant cannot meet his burden of proof regarding his claim for Abuse of Process.

“The essential elements of abuse of process are (1) an ulterior purpose, and (2) a willful act in the use of the process that is not proper in the regular conduct of the proceeding.” *Pallares*, 407 S.C. at 370, 756 S.E.2d at 133 (citing *Argoe v. Three Rivers Behavioral Ctr. & Psychiatric Solutions*, 388 S.C. 394, 697 S.E.2d 551 (2010); *Hainer v. Am. Med. Int'l, Inc.*, 328 S.C. 128, 492 S.E.2d 103 (1997); *LaMotte v. Punch Line of Columbia, Inc.*, 296 S.C. 66, 370 S.E.2d 711 (1988)).

The first element, an “ulterior purpose,” exists if the process is used to secure an objective that is “not legitimate in the use of the process.” *D.R. Horton, Inc. v. Wescott Land Co.*, 398 S.C. 528, 551, 730 S.E.2d 340, 352 (Ct. App. 2012), *aff'd in part as modified, vacated in part on other grounds*, 410 S.C. 319, 764 S.E.2d 701 (2014) (citation omitted).

“One who uses a legal process, whether criminal or civil, against another *primarily* to accomplish a purpose for which it is not designed, is subject to liability for harm caused by the abuse of process.” *Food Lion, Inc. v. United Food & Commercial Workers Int’l Union*, 351 S.C. 65, 75, 567 S.E.2d 251, 255–56 (Ct. App. 2002) (quoting Restatement (Second) of Torts § 682 (1977)). The collateral objective must be the “sole or paramount reason for acting.” *Id.* at 75, 567 S.E.2d at 256. An allegation that a party had a “bad motive” or an “ulterior purpose” in bringing an action, standing alone, is insufficient to sustain an abuse of process claim. *D.R. Horton*, 398 S.C. at 551, 730 S.E.2d at 352 (citing *Food Lion*, 351 S.C. at 74, 567 S.E.2d at 255). Moreover, no action lies where a person has an incidental or concurrent motive of spite or merely seeks to gain a collateral advantage from the process. *Food Lion*, 351 S.C. at 74–75, 567 S.E.2d at 255–56. In the present case, Appellant has sued Ghent, Anderson, and Antonio for Abuse of Process. In his complaint, Appellant alleged that these Respondents’ actions “were carried out for ulterior purposes,” (R. 25, ¶31), and that they “willfully used the legal process espoused above solely for such ulterior purposes.” (R. 25, ¶32). Appellant has not stated what the ulterior purposes were, which is insufficient. *See D.R. Horton*, 398 S.C. at 551, 730 S.E.2d at 352.

Abuse of process focuses on events occurring outside the process; the improper purpose usually takes the form of coercion to obtain a collateral advantage, not properly involved in the proceeding itself, such as the surrender of property or the payment of money, by the use of the process as a threat or club. *D.R. Horton*, 398 S.C. at 551, 730 S.E.2d at 352; *see also Hainer*, 328 S.C. at 136, 492 S.E.2d at 107 (stating the improper purpose usually takes the form of coercion to obtain a collateral advantage); *accord Swicegood v.*

Lott, 379 S.C. 346, 65 S.E.2d 211 (Ct. App. 2008); *Guider v. Churpeyes, Inc.*, 370 S.C. 424, 635 S.E.2d 562 (Ct. App. 2006). Here, there is no evidence that Anderson, Antonio, or Ghent were trying to coerce Appellant to do or surrender anything. Agent Ghent had never even met Appellant before he was asked to investigate this matter. (R. 493, lines 13-15). Anderson and Antonio were internal affairs officers for the Sheriff's Office, and but for their positions, they would never have been involved in this investigation. (R. 708, lines 21-24). There is no evidence that either Anderson or Antonio ever had any improper purpose with regard to their investigation of Appellant. (R. 706, line 6-p. 707, line 9).

Additionally, with regard to the "process" itself, these individual Respondents only performed investigations and wrote reports. Agent Ghent's actions were all taken as part of his official duties for SLED. (R. 494, lines 4-7). Agent Ghent did nothing outside the realm of his normal investigative activities and he followed all of SLED's policies and procedures. (R. 494, line 8- p. 495, line 1). Ghent's SLED report was compiled and turned over to the Solicitor's Office for a determination of wrongdoing. (R. 463, lines 11-17). Appellant has not made any claims against Anderson or Antonio arising out of his termination and Anderson and Antonio had no involvement in the SLED investigation beyond providing documentation and access to witnesses. (R. 791, line 23-p. 791, line 6).

The second aspect required is a "willful act." A willful act has been described as "[s]ome definite act or threat not authorized by the process or aimed at an object not legitimate in the use of the process." *Hainer*, 328 S.C. at 136, 492 S.E.2d at 107. The "willful act" element consists of three components: (1) "a 'willful' or overt act"; (2) "in the use of the process"; (3) "that is improper because it is either (a) unauthorized or (b) aimed

at an illegitimate collateral objective.” *Food Lion, Inc.*, 351 S.C. at 71, 567 S.E.2d at 254 (citations omitted). There is no evidence of such in this case. There is no evidence of any improper willful act or any illegitimate collateral objective by the individual defendants. (R. 792, lines 7-10). These were law enforcement officers who were asked to perform an investigation into a complaint of wrongdoing. They performed their investigations and turned over their findings to other people who then made the decision on what would be done. (R. 490, line 24-p. 491, line 5; R. 793, lines 16-25).

There is no evidence to support the cause of action for Abuse of Process against Ghent, Anderson, or Antonio, and therefore summary judgment should be affirmed.

2. There is No Evidence that Appellant was Falsely Arrested.

To prevail on a cause of action for false arrest, a plaintiff must establish: “(1) the defendant restrained the plaintiff, (2) the restraint was intentional, and (3) the restraint was unlawful.” *Yarborough v. Montgomery*, 554 F. Supp. 2d 611, 620 (D.S.C. 2008) (quoting *Law v. S.C. Dep’t of Corr.*, 368 S.C. 424, 440, 629 S.E.2d 642, 651 (2006)). In this case, Appellant was intentionally restrained by officers at the time of his arrest. The only determination for the court is whether the restraint was unlawful. “The fundamental issue in determining the lawfulness of an arrest is whether there was probable cause to make the arrest.” *Law*, 368 S.C. at 440, 629 S.E.2d at 651. In this case, the South Carolina Attorney General’s Office made the determination to pursue prosecution. The Attorney General’s Office requested Agent Ghent apply for a warrant for Appellant’s arrest, and Ghent complied. The warrant was signed by Associate Chief Magistrate James B. Gosnell on May 7, 2009, and Appellant was then arrested pursuant to the facially valid warrant. (R. 911-912).

As stated in Section I.A.1., *supra*, South Carolina has long embraced the rule that a true bill of indictment is prima facie evidence of probable cause. *Law*, 368 S.C. at 436, 629 S.E.2d at 649; *McBride v. School Dist. of Greenville Cty*, 389 S.C. 546, 698 S.E.2d 845 (Ct. App. 2010). Although whether probable cause exists is ordinarily a question for the jury, it may be decided as a matter of law when the evidence yields but one conclusion. *McBride* (citing *Law*, 368 S.C. at 436, 629 S.E.2d at 649). Appellant was indicted by the grand jury in this matter. The grand jury's true bill indictment against Appellant is prima facie evidence of probable cause to arrest Appellant, and thus Appellant cannot show an unlawful restraint by Respondents. Therefore, Respondents' summary judgment should be affirmed as to Appellant's False Arrest claim.

C. THERE WAS NO CIVIL CONSPIRACY BY THE INDIVIDUAL RESPONDENTS TO CAUSE HARM TO APPELLANT.

Appellant has alleged that Respondents Anderson, Antonio, and Ghent came together in a conspiracy for the purpose of injuring Appellant by fraud. (R. 27, ¶42). Respondents Anderson and Antonio are both employees of the Charleston County Sheriff's Office. Therefore, the Intracorporate Conspiracy Doctrine applies in this matter as to the two of them. "[N]o conspiracy can exist if the conduct challenged is a single act by a single corporation acting exclusively through its own directors, officers, and employees, each acting within the scope of his employment." *McMillan v. Oconee Mem'l Hosp., Inc.*, 367 S.C. 559, 565, 626 S.E.2d 884, 887 (2006).

Respondents Anderson and Antonio in this case fall squarely within the intracorporate conspiracy doctrine. First, Appellant has failed to allege that any officer was

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